



A guide for leaders in the NHS and organisations delivering NHS services





## Contents

Introduction	3
Why speaking up matters	3
How to use the guide	4
Principles for leaders and managers	6
Guidance for leaders	7
Valuing speaking up	8
Understanding the value of speaking up	8
The senior lead responsible for Freedom to Speak Up	9
The non-executive director responsible for Freedom to Speak Up	9
The person responsible for people and organisational development	9
Investing in a Freedom to Speak Up guardian	9
Contingency planning	9
Role-modelling speaking up	10
Setting the tone for culture	10
Reflecting on leadership behaviour	12
Communicating about speaking up	14
Write your speaking-up policy	14
Develop strong communication	14

Responding to speaking up	16
National Guardian's Office training	16
Support managers	16
Learning from speaking up	18
Triangulate data to identify wider issues	18
Learn for improvement	20
Supporting Freedom to Speak Up guardians	21
The guardian role	22
Guardian models	22
Recruiting guardians	23
Evaluating ringfenced time	24
Line managing the guardian	25
Case-handling procedures	25
Speaking-up data	25
Tackling barriers to speaking up	26
Identify barriers to speaking up	26
Groups that may face barriers	27
Tackling barriers	27
Appoint speaking-up champions	28
Tackle detriment	29

Continually improving speaking-up culture	30
Writing your improvement strategy	30
The improvement and delivery plan	31
Continuous improvement	31
Indicators of concern	32
Assurance	33
Ways to gather assurance	33
The guardian report	34
Building widespread cultural change	36
<b>u</b> .	
cultural change	
cultural change Carry out wider cultural improvement	t <b>37</b>
cultural change Carry out wider cultural improvement Compassionate, inclusive leadership	37 38
cultural change Carry out wider cultural improvement Compassionate, inclusive leadership Just and learning culture	37 38 40
cultural change Carry out wider cultural improvement Compassionate, inclusive leadership Just and learning culture Worker voice	37 38 40 41
cultural change Carry out wider cultural improvement Compassionate, inclusive leadership Just and learning culture Worker voice Equality, diversity and inclusion	<ul> <li>37</li> <li>38</li> <li>40</li> <li>41</li> <li>42</li> </ul>

This guide is a collaboration between NHS England/National Guardians Office 2022.

## Introduction

#### We want to make the NHS the best place to work.

We want our workers to feel valued and respected at work and to know that their views are welcomed. By meeting their needs, we also enable them to deliver the best possible care.

To do that, we need to provide the best possible working environment – one where speaking up is not only welcomed, but valued as an opportunity to learn and improve.

#### We each have a voice that counts

Ensuring that all our workers – permanent employees, agency staff, students, volunteers – have a voice that counts is a key part of the NHS People Promise:

We all feel safe and confident to speak up.

And we take the time to really listen to understand the hopes and fears that lie behind the words.

**NHS People Promise** 

#### Why speaking up matters

When people speak up, everyone benefits. Building a more open culture, in which leadership encourages learning and improvement, leads to safer care and treatment and improved patient experience.

People are the eyes and ears of an organisation. Their views, improvement ideas and concerns can act as a valuable early warning system that a policy, process or decision is not playing out as anticipated or could be improved.

A speaking-up culture benefits staff satisfaction and performance, too. When people feel that their opinions matter and are valued and acted on, they become more committed – and performance and retention improve.

When people feel that speaking up about poor behaviour is welcomed and encouraged, and that it will be addressed at an early stage, organisations become less entrenched in formal employee relations processes. These can be costly and damage relationships.

So, people's voices play a vital role in informing and driving improvement. However, speaking up is not always easy – especially in organisations where leaders do not welcome challenge or change. That is why putting in place effective, person-centred speaking-up processes will support people to speak up and protect them in doing so. That way, more people should feel able to do so – to the benefit of your organisation and workers.

#### Who this guide is for

This guide is designed to be used by any senior team, owner or board in any organisation that delivers NHS commissioned services. This includes all aspects of primary care; secondary care; and independent providers. This audience has been chosen because it is the behaviour of senior leaders that has the biggest impact on organisational culture and behaviours.

## Using this guide, and the accompanying self-reflection tool, will help you:

- build a culture and behaviours that is responsive to feedback from workers
- ensure that your organisation focuses on learning, to continuously improve quality of care and the experience of staff, patients and service users alike
- improve staff survey scores and other worker experience metrics
- demonstrate to regulators or inspectors the work you are doing to develop your speaking-up arrangements.

#### How to use this guide

This guide provides ideas for how your organisation might adhere with the Principles for leaders and managers (see page 6), with detailed information on key topics and recommendations for further reading. The accompanying reflection and planning tool, available at www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/ freedom-to-speak-up/developing-freedom-to-speak-up-arrangements-in-the-nhs, is designed to help you identify strengths in yourself, your team and your organisation – and any gaps needing work.

#### This resource is made up of:

**Part 1** is the main guidance, with each section covering the Principles for leaders and managers (see page 7 - the transactional information you need to develop your speaking-up process).

**Part 2** shows how speaking up sits within the wider context of a compassionate and inclusive culture, how all elements of such a culture are closely linked to Freedom To Speak Up (FTSU), and must be implemented alongside it (see page 36 - the transformational information you need for culture and behavioural change).

Use this guide alongside the reflection and planning tool as follows:

#### **Step 1:** Read the guide.

- **Step 2:** Use the first stage of the reflection and planning tool to evaluate your existing arrangements or to reflect on which principles you want to focus on embedding.
- **Step 3:** Use the second stage of the reflection and planning tool to plan your next steps.
- **Step 4**: Share your plan with your workers, senior team or board, for their feedback or oversight.

Every organisation has its own set of strengths and challenges, and some will be at a more advanced stage in developing speaking-up arrangements than others. This is particularly the case for primary care and integrated care systems. Through 2022/23 NHS England and the National Guardian's Office are working to understand more about how speaking up can be embedded in these organisations and systems.

For this reason, this guide does not give instructions that must be followed from start to end. Instead, it offers guidance within different themes, leaving you free to work on the priorities most relevant to your organisation. The accompanying self-reflection tool will help you ascertain what those are.

A mechanical, tick-box approach to the self-reflection tool is unlikely to lead to a better culture and behaviours. Fundamentally, speaking up involves having a conversation. To be effective, this conversation requires trust and respect. So, improving speaking-up arrangements should begin with honest reflection on how you and your colleagues respond when people do speak up to you.

#### Terms used in this guide

Organisations	Integrated care boards, NHS trusts, NHS foundation trusts, primary care networks, GP confederations, GP practices, community pharmacies, dentists, optical businesses, independent providers, community interest companies
The leadership	In a trust or integrated care board, the board; in smaller or less complex organisations, a senior leadership group or contract holder
Senior leader	In a trust or integrated care board, executive directors; in primary care, GP partners, principal dentists, superintendent pharmacists, or directors or responsible officers for an optical business
Senior leader for Freedom to Speak Up	In a trust or integrated care board, the executive director responsible for Freedom to Speak Up; in primary care, a member of the senior leadership team
Speaking up	Encompasses matters often referred to as raising concerns, making suggestions for improvement, whistleblowing and protected or qualifying disclosures
Worker	An employee, secondee, contractor, student, volunteer, agency or temporary staff member, locum or governor delivering NHS care

#### The fundamentals of a healthy speaking-up culture

The principles below are the fundamental requirements for an environment where people feel safe to speak up with confidence.

## Principles for leaders and managers

- 1) Value speaking up.
- 2 Role-model speaking up and set a healthy Freedom to Speak Up culture.
- (3) Make sure workers know how to speak up and feel safe and encouraged to do so.
- (4) When someone speaks up, thank them, listen up and follow up.
- (5) Use speaking up as an opportunity to learn and improve.
- 6 Support Freedom to Speak Up guardians to fulfil their role in a way that meets workers' needs and National Guardian's Office requirements alike.
- $\bigcirc$  Identify and tackle barriers to speaking up.
- (8) Know the strengths and weaknesses of the organisation's speaking-up culture and take action to continually improve.

## Part 1 Guidance for leaders

Part 1 sets out the transactional information that you need to carry out the Freedom to Speak Up process.

You can work through the sections from start to finish or focus on areas of highest need for your organisation.

## Valuing speaking up

Principle 1: Value speaking up.

For a speaking-up culture to develop across the organisation, a commitment to speaking up must come from the top. This section sets out the ways you can demonstrate that commitment.

#### Understanding the value of speaking up

Before an organisation's leaders can begin to effectively implement their speaking-up arrangements, they need to understand what speaking up is and the value it brings to the organisation.

A culture in which workers feel safe and can confidently share their voice and speak up plays a critical role in organisational effectiveness. Organisations where workers can highlight issues, challenge the status quo or question the norm are better able to innovate, perform well and provide ever safer, more effective care.

Your organisation will not successfully embed this cultural change without the absolute commitment of the people at the top. If you sense any hesitancy or resistance at this level to embedding speaking-up culture across your organisation, you need to invest the necessary time and resource to explore any fears. This may include providing development and coaching to ensure that the value of speaking up is embraced wholeheartedly.

#### Find out more

A good starting point to understand the importance of speaking up is Sir Robert Francis' <u>Freedom to Speak Up Review report</u> and the National Guardian's <u>website</u>.

#### The senior lead responsible for Freedom to Speak Up

Having a senior person to champion Freedom To Speak Up (FTSU) and support your Freedom to Speak Up guardian helps demonstrate to your organisation your commitment to speaking up. Importantly, this person should be widely considered a credible role-model of the behaviours that encourage speaking up. They should be able to show that they are clear about their role and responsibility, and to evidence how they have helped improve the organisation's speaking-up culture.

The senior lead should be accountable for these aspects of the FTSU guardian role:

- fair, inclusive recruitment (see page 23)
- capacity (see page 24)
- evaluating speaking-up arrangements (see page 30 33).

They should also be able to explain to oversight bodies the rationale for decisions around:

- ringfenced time, as well as the checks and balances put in place to show this time is sufficient and effective
- how the guardian was appointed
- how the organisation reviews its speaking-up arrangements.

#### The non-executive director responsible for Freedom to Speak Up

This non-executive director (NED) role is a senior, independent lead role specific to organisations with boards. In this context, the NED is predominantly a support for the guardian: a fresh pair of eyes to ensure that investigations are conducted with rigor and to help escalate issues, where needed.

## They should have an in-depth knowledge of FTSU and be able to readily articulate:

- why a healthy speaking-up culture is vital (see page 8)
- the indicators of a healthy speaking-up culture (see page 4 and page 11)
- the indicators that there is sufficient support for speaking up and wider culture transformation (see page 24)
- the red flags that should trigger concern (see page 11 and page 32).

The NED is also there to challenge the most senior people in the organisation to reflect on whether they could do more to create a healthy, effective speaking-up culture. This might involve constructively raising awareness about poor behaviours.

Organisations without boards – especially those sharing a guardian across a partnership or network – are likely to benefit from having an equivalent role.

## The person responsible for people and organisational development

If your organisation has a dedicated person responsible for organisational development, they have a crucial role in promoting a speaking-up culture and behaviours – especially in ensuring that this permeates throughout the organisation. This requires work in a range of interconnected areas, set out in detail in Part 3: Communicating about speaking up (page 36).

#### Investing in a Freedom to Speak Up guardian

The Freedom to Speak Up guardian role is a complex and challenging one. Those in the role need both practical and emotional support.

All guardians should have ringfenced time to fulfil workers' needs. When you are calculating the amount of ringfenced time required for the role, consider the activities set out in the universal job description and the guidance from the National Guardian's Office. Also, factor in time for them to attend network events, supporting other guardians and for training and development in the role.

#### **Contingency planning**

It is important that you have contingency plans in place in case a FTSU guardian is unable to work. The plan should ensure:

- timely and helpful communications are sent explaining interim arrangements
- continuity of support for workers
- both the confidentiality agreed and the security of information shared with the Freedom to Speak Up guardian are maintained

## **Role-modelling speaking up**

Principle 2: Role-model speaking up and set a healthy Freedom to Speak Up culture.

Role-modelling by leaders is essential to set the cultural tone of the organisation. This section sets out the ways you can role-model behaviour that leads to a healthy speaking-up culture.

#### Setting the tone for culture

The cultural tone of the organisation is set at the top. Leadership has the biggest impact on how workers behave – and actions speak louder than words. Workers take their cues on how to behave from the behaviour, decisions and communication style of their leadership. So, as a leader, it is essential that you embody the culture and behaviours you want to see.

To meet the challenges that face health and care, workers need to be curious, innovative, and challenge when they think something is not right. For this to happen, you need to demonstrate that you welcome people speaking up about ideas, issues, problems, challenges, opportunities and innovations.

You also need to show that everyone's voice matters. This involves identifying the barriers to speaking up that your people encounter and working with them to overcome them. Finally, you need to show that you value what you are told, by thanking people and sharing updates on the actions you have taken.



#### Speaking-up behaviours for leaders: do's and don'ts

#### DO...

- ✓ Ask workers for their opinions.
- ✓ Speak up yourself.
- ✓ Measure the impact of change.
- ✓ Show how you value speaking up as an opportunity to improve.
- $\checkmark$  Tell stories about the change that has occurred from speaking up stories.
- Encourage others to speak up and constructively challenge one another.
- Acknowledge that people face barriers to speaking up, understand where they exist, who they affect and develop actions to reduce them.

- ✓ Be visible and approachable and welcome approaches from workers.
- Listen with gratitude and respond with curiosity rather than defensiveness.
- ✓ When someone speaks up, listen, thank them, act, provide feedback and ask for feedback yourself.
- Take a 'learn, not blame' approach to dealing with issues and be willing to embrace new ways of working.
- Publicly acknowledge any mistakes.
- Accept your guardian's constructive challenge they are there to help your organisation be the best it can be.

#### DON'T...

- X Seek out those who have spoken up.
- X Blame people for things that have gone wrong; instead, learn how to improve processes or behaviours.
- X Focus on the person who has spoken up; focus on the issue.
- X Warn people against speaking up 'outside' the organisation.

- X Take a narrow approach to looking into speaking-up matters. Instead, try to get as much learning as possible.
- X Be defensive and immediately start explaining away rather than listening and acknowledging a person's experience.
- X Be too busy to listen.
- X Talk about how to 'limit the damage' of speaking up. Instead, acknowledge mistakes and embrace the opportunity to learn and improve.

#### **Reflecting on leadership behaviour**

Given the significant impact of leaders' behaviour, it is vital that you and each of your senior colleagues reflect on your ability to shape culture and, specifically, whether your behaviour encourages or inhibits speaking up. Ask colleagues to critique your behaviour. Receiving this feedback can be difficult – especially if it is critical – but it offers invaluable opportunities to reflect, learn and develop, so must always be welcomed.

### Questions to reflect on

- Why and how are outcomes different when you are listening in order to learn, rather than to instruct, correct or win?
- (2) How have you widened or changed who you listen to in the last year?
- (3) Who are you instinctively biased towards and against (even if you wish you weren't)?
- (4) Where is the best place to meet people so that they'll feel comfortable speaking up to you?
- 5 Do people have a choice about where they can talk to you?

- 6 Where do you feel most ready and able to hear what people say?
- Where in your diary is there space for spontaneous conversation?
- B Do normal meetings incorporate enough slack for others to reflect, inquire, challenge and offer new ideas?
- (9) What's your reaction to being challenged?
- 10 What do you do to make others feel important, comfortable and significant?
- 1) How do you phrase your questions in ways that help other people to open up?



#### **Further reading**

Edmonson AC (2018). The Fearless Organization: Creating psychological safety in the workplace for learning, innovation, and growth. Wiley

Kline N (2002). Time to Think. Cassell.

Reitz M, Higgins J (2019). Speak Up: Say what needs to be said and hear what needs to be heard. FT Publishing International

Sinek S (2018). <u>How to change your company's culture with just a</u> pen and paper (video)

West M (2016). If it's about culture, it's about leadership (blog). London: The King's Fund. Available at: <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.</u> <u>uk/blog/2016/01/if-it%E2%80%99s-about-culture-it%E2%80%99s-about-leadership</u>

West MA (2021). Compassionate Leadership: Sustaining wisdom, humanity and presence in health and social care. The Swirling Leaf Press

West R, Eckert R, Stewart K, Pasmore B (2014). <u>Developing collective</u> <u>leadership for healthcare</u> (blog). London: The King's Fund.

Horizons <u>A-practical-guide-to-the-art-of-psychological-safety-in-the-</u> real-world-of-health-and-care-.pdf (horizonsnhs.com)

Cole M, Higgins, J (2021) <u>Stuck in the middle – and feeling the pinch</u> (blog)

Cole M (2021) Questioning power (blog)

## **Communicating about speaking up**

Principle 3: Make sure workers know how to speak up and feel safe and encouraged to do so.

Regular, clear and inspiring communication is an essential part of making a speaking-up culture a reality. This section sets out how to develop a communication strategy and the key messages you can use.

#### Write your speaking-up policy

The first step is to write your speaking-up policy, drawing on the National <u>Speaking Up policy template</u>. Its aim is to encourage speaking up by providing people with information about how to do this and what will happen when they do. Make sure it is well publicised and easily accessible to everyone and that the information it contains is accurate. Update changes, especially to named contacts, as soon as required.

The policy should include options for workers to speak up internally but also externally, if they feel this is preferable.



The best way to reach someone will depend on a range of factors, including their role, their hours, whether they are desk based and any individual access issues, such as language, literacy, disability or health needs. The people who face the greatest barriers to speaking up may be the very people with the greatest need to do so.

#### **Develop strong communication**

To create a speaking-up culture, workers need to know that it is right to speak up. They also need to know how to do so and who they can speak to. To embed this understanding, they need to receive regular messages and clear information. This is best managed through a communications strategy.

Your communications strategy should include the following key messages, which you should regularly and consistently share:

- Speaking up is the right thing to do.
- Senior leaders welcome speaking up.
- Leaders want to hear from anyone who has a matter to raise, including ancillary staff, clerical staff, volunteers and temporary staff.
- Speaking up helps keep patients and service users safe and creates a more positive working environment.
- The leadership will take seriously any instances of staff being bullied, discriminated against, harassed or victimised for speaking up.

#### It should also include:

- clear information about how to speak up with clear explanations of procedures and examples of different approaches, emphasising that people can speak up informally through day-to-day conversations
- examples, stories and data showing the impact of speaking up, the improvements made and learning generated as a result
- ways to communicate with different groups of workers about speaking up.

Alongside the communications strategy, build in measures to assess the impact of your communications. This enables you to:

- know if you are reaching the whole workforce. This is important, as by identifying who you are not reaching you can determine what other communication channels you should be using
- know which channel, messages or presenter has the biggest impact so that you can exploit that approach when needed
- provide assurance that all workers know how to speak up and have heard that speaking up is welcomed.



#### Tips:

#### Things to consider when planning a communication

- Who is the audience (or audiences)?
- What do you want the audience to think, do, say and feel as a result of the communication?
- What are the needs or preferences of each stakeholder group?
- What angle and approach will work best? For example, you might focus on injustice, a 'feel-good' story or someone's personal experience.
- Be persuasive by focusing on the 'why' before the 'how' and the 'what'.

#### **Further reading**

Communications Planning: Getting the right message across in the right way. MindTools

Firstup (2019). How to Improve Internal Communications: Goals & KPIs

Sas C, Schmidt N, Patel A (2001). <u>A Systems Approach to</u> <u>Communication Process: Case study within an online community.</u> Department of Computer Science, University College Dublin.

Sinek S (2011). Start with why: How great leaders inspire everyone to take action. London: Penguin

Timms H, Heimans J (2019). New power: how anyone can persuade, mobilize, and succeed in our chaotic, connected age. New York: Knopf Doubleday Publishing Group

Wheatley M, Frieze D (2006). <u>Using emergence to take social</u> innovation to scale.

#### Find out more

The National Guardian's Office has produced a <u>policy review</u> <u>framework</u> that you can use as a tool to assess your policy.

## **Responding to speaking up**

Principle 4: When someone speaks up, thank them, listen up and follow up.

Speaking up is not easy, so when someone does speak up, they must feel appreciated, heard and involved. This may require managers to embed new behaviours and to have the training needed to enable this.

#### National Guardian's Office training

The National Guardian's Office has published guidance for delivering speaking-up training for health and care workers: <u>National Guidelines on</u> <u>Freedom to Speak Up Training</u>.

The office has also worked with Health Education England to produce online learning for anyone working in health and care. <u>The Freedom to Speak Up in Healthcare in England programme</u> is designed to help workers understand their vital role in building a healthy speaking-up culture that protects patients and service users and enhances worker experience.

**Module 1: Speak up** is for all workers, including volunteers, students and trainees. Its aim is to help everyone to understand what speaking up is, how to speak up and what to expect when they do.

Module 2: Listen up is for managers at all levels and focuses on listening and understanding the barriers to speaking up.

**Module 3: Follow up** is aimed at all senior leaders, to help clarify their role in setting the tone around speaking-up culture and behaviours and how speaking up can promote organisational learning and improvement.

#### **Support managers**

Managers play a vital role in supporting senior leaders to set the right cultural tone for speaking up and for handling speaking-up matters effectively. Like you, and your senior colleagues, your managers will have influence over how their teams and colleagues behave. Leaders at every level need to role-model the speaking-up principles. It helps workers feel safe, valued and confident to speak up and workers are likely to emulate the values and behaviours they see in their more senior colleagues.

Make sure managers receive the support they need to handle speaking-up concerns. This could include training on listening and providing emotional and psychological support.

For some, it may also require training on how to carry out investigations where appropriate. It can be helpful to produce support material for managers, to help them create healthy, business as usual, speaking-up cultures. The tips below are for you, as a leader, to share with your managers.

#### **Tips: Guidance for managers**

- Encourage workers to speak up in daily working life, including team meetings, supervisions and informal chats. Remind them that speaking up does not have to involve a formal process.
- Thank workers who speak up and give them feedback if necessary.
- If you have concerns of your own, be a positive role-model by speaking up yourself.
- Familiarise yourself with your organisation's speaking-up arrangements.
- Encourage curiosity about and, where you think appropriate challenge the status quo.
- Work hard to shift the focus from who has spoken up to what is being said, and from blaming to asking what can be learnt.

- Be aware of the barriers that may prevent workers from speaking up. These include perceptions that speaking up is not acted on, barriers that differing levels of seniority may introduce, or negative responses that make workers feel speaking up is unwelcome.
- Work hard to understand the barriers that colleagues from minority ethnic communities or people who have been recruited from abroad might face. Other groups of workers may face particular barriers to speaking up, as well – gain an understanding of these too.
- Accept that not everyone will feel comfortable speaking up to their line manager. This is not necessarily a reflection on the manager's abilities it could be for many reasons. Make sure your workers know who they can speak to other than you and share contact details for the organisation's guardian in case they need them.

## Learning from speaking up

#### Principle 5: Use speaking up as an opportunity to learn and improve.

The ultimate aim of speaking up is to improve patient safety and the working environment for all NHS workers. The information gleaned through speaking up is a precious resource that can help boost understanding and performance.

#### Triangulate data to identify wider issues

To help the board or leadership team identify patterns, trends and potential areas of concern, it is helpful to compare the themes in speaking-up cases with other data and information. You can use this intelligence to identify 'hotspots' where speaking up may be happening more or less often than expected, and to identify what aspects of patient safety and quality, worker well-being and culture need attention.

Below is a list of the types of data that could be used. The size of your organisation will determine how much of this you have available. At a minimum, a smaller organisation could triangulate speaking-up matters with indicators of the quality and safety of patient care (such as patient complaints) and indicators of work well-being (such as sickness rates).

#### Questions to ask of your data

- Why do some departments and staff groups have no issues?
- Who are the outliers, and why?
- Which departments and staff groups have consistently occurring issues?
- How have some departments been able to reduce their number of issues or increase the levels of speaking-up matters raised?
- What is the cause of unexpected spikes?
- Are any issues concentrated in one department or directorate, or do all types appear across different teams or parts of the organisation?

#### Data you could compare

Patient safety	Worker experience
Patient complaints Patient claims Safeguarding issues Patient safety incidents Near misses Never events Patient experience dashboard data Friends and Family Test	Grievance numbers and themes Employment tribunal numbers and claims Exit interview themes Sickness rates Retention figures National Staff Survey results, including response rates The National Quarterly Pulse Survey Polls or pulse surveys Workforce Page Equality Standard Workforce
data	Workforce Race Equality Standard, Workforce Disability Equality Standard, Stonewall Equality Index data Levels of suspension Use of settlement agreements Leadership behaviours survey Thematic reviews Use of suggestion and similar schemes Engagement in worker reward and recognition schemes

Гір:	Working	with	data	

Make sure your guardian has support from experts to interpret statistical information and that they are able to present all data and other intelligence in a way that maintains confidentiality.

#### Learn for improvement

The process of building a speaking-up culture requires an organisation to learn over time. As well as putting training in place (see page 16), it is helpful to learn from other organisations going through similar changes or facing similar issues to your own, and sharing good practice. The steps below show how to apply this learning to your organisation.

**Step 1: Identify good practice** This may be in a number of places including (but not limited to):

- National Guardian's Office case or speaking-up reviews
- NHS England bulletins
- National Guardian's Office monthly newsletters, blogs and case studies published on its website
- FTSU guardian regional and national networks
- FTSU support groups operating in integrated care systems or primary care networks
- your organisation's public information on speaking up for example, on your website or in board papers or improvement plans.

**Step 2: Carry out a gap analysis** Complete a simple self-assessment or gap analysis against the good practice. Consider which aspects of the good practice are relevant to your organisation. If, at first, some appear irrelevant, could you adjust them to your organisational circumstances?

**Step 3: Update your plan** If you identify any improvement actions, add them to your annual improvement plan, to give your senior team or board an overview of the continuous improvement work you are doing.

**Step 4: Share the good practice** you have seen or generated, following the communications advice in Section 3.



## **Supporting Freedom to Speak Up guardians**

Principle 6: Support guardians to fulfil their role in a way that meets workers' needs and National Guardian's Office requirements.

The guardian role is a wide-ranging and complex one. Not only does it involve responding to workers who speak up and supporting them – it also involves:

- gaining a deep understanding of the organisation's speaking-up culture
- working extensively across the organisation to enable all speaking-up process to work well
- working in partnership and challenging senior leadership
- acting as a point of triangulation where quality of services and worker experience meet.

The role is expected to operate with a high degree of independence. However, this must be achieved without creating a sense of isolation or at the expense of co-operation. Guardians deal with complex, often distressing situations, supporting workers who may be in crisis. So, in addition to practical support, they need time and access to support mechanisms for themselves.

#### Find out more

The guardian job description must follow the <u>universal job description</u> drawn up by the National Guardian.

The guardian must follow the guidance produced by the <u>National</u> <u>Guardian's Office</u>.

Guardian development must follow the <u>National Guardian's education</u> and training pack.

The National Guardian's Office provides <u>guardian training</u> and maintains a <u>guardian database</u>.

#### The guardian role

The guardian role is designed to meet several important outcomes. To achieve them, the role involves:

- **Reactive elements** Responding to workers who want to speak up and managing each case, including the initial conversation, by accurately recording, following up and feeding back
- Proactive elements Specifically:
- looking at barriers to speaking up and working in partnership to help reduce them
- communicating the role and making sure there is appropriate training on speaking up
- supporting and challenging senior leaders, including through producing regular reports for the senior team or board
- National requirements Fulfilling the expectations of the National Guardian's Office, including:
- providing information and regular data returns such as details of the cases they handle
- reading and carrying out gap analyses based on case review or <u>speaking-up review reports</u>
- playing an active part in guardian networks, including attending regional and national meetings, training and other events
- making sure their knowledge and skills are current, including taking part in National Guardian Office training, keeping abreast of and implementing national guidance, and taking part in other activities such as webinars and conferences
- Other elements Including self-development, taking part in supervision or mentoring where needed, and supporting their own emotional and psychological well-being.

#### **Guardian models**

If the workers in your organisation do not already have access to a guardian, decide whether you want to appoint one to support your own organisation or to share guardian support with a partner organisation.

For smaller organisations, there are pros and cons for each option:

- Guardians who work within the organisation they support are close to where care is delivered and the people who deliver it. They understand local culture and can build trust. However, managing confidentiality and real or perceived conflicts of interest can be challenging. Guardians may be too close to the issues that workers wish to speak up about and risk losing essential impartiality.
- Guardians who work outside the organisations they support may be seen as more independent, but their distance from the organisation could affect their visibility, relationship building and capacity for proactive culturebuilding activities.

#### Further reading

National Guardian's Office (2021). <u>Exploring Freedom to Speak Up</u>. [For primary care and integrated settings.] London: NGO Sharif N (2020). <u>Inclusive Recruitment Toolkit</u>. London: NHS England Zapantis E (2021). <u>Recruiting for Inclusion</u>. Blog. NHS Confederation

#### **Recruiting guardians**

Appointments to guardian roles – whether paid or voluntary – must be based on fair, open and inclusive competition. This is important for three reasons:

- It reassures workers that their guardian will operate independently, impartially and objectively (as they are required to).
- It gives workers more assurance they will be supported and listened to when they speak up.
- It provides opportunities for a diverse pool of candidates who can bring a wide range of skills, experience and values to the role.

Despite this, in 2020 62% of respondents to the National Guardian's 2020 Survey report revealed they had been recruited without open competition. This presents a risk for their organisations: if workers do not trust that their guardian is independent and impartial, they may not speak up.

#### **Tips: Appointing a guardian**

- Given the importance of being able to encourage minority ethnic workers and other groups of people to speak up, make sure the selection process includes an assessment of the candidates' ability to:
- understand unconscious bias
- sensitively ask probing questions to draw out discrimination
- appreciate the factors that may prevent minority ethnic people from speaking up
- understand people's different cultures and behaviours.
- Once the guardian is recruited, they need to undertake training from the National Guardian's Office and register on the Guardian Directory. Your guardian cannot begin to publicise their role or handle cases until they have been trained and registered.

#### **Evaluating ringfenced time**

However much ringfenced time is currently allocated to the guardian, you must have measures in place to evaluate whether they, and those who support them, have enough time.

#### Tips:

#### Questions to help evaluate the adequacy of ringfenced time

- Does the guardian have time to carry out both the reactive and the proactive parts of the role as well as satisfying development needs?
- How long do workers wait between approaching the guardian and the initial conversation, to better understand the matter they are speaking up about?
- How far are champions satisfied with the amount and quality of leadership and training they receive to support them in their role?
- What does feedback highlight about workers' experience of the speaking-up guardian when they have spoken up?
- Has the guardian completed all their actions on the speaking-up improvement action plans on time and to a high standard?

#### Factors to include in your calculations

- The number of workers in your organisation The larger your workforce the more time your guardian will need to help them speak up.
- The number of organisations your guardian supports Irrespective of the number of staff, the more organisations your guardian supports, the more time they will need to engage with different senior leadership teams, work in partnership with others and properly understand and address barriers to speaking up.
- Geographical spread and the number of sites In spread-out organisations, guardians may need to spend more time to connect with people, developing digital communications and engagement, or providing leadership to champions.
- Progress against indicators The greater the need for improvement highlighted by tools like the <u>NHS Workplace Race Equality Standard</u> (WRES) and <u>Workplace Disability Equality Standard (WDES</u>), the more likely it is your workers need to speak out. It is also more likely that the issues they do speak out about will be complex and will take more time to talk through, understand and resolve.
- Improvement initiatives Any widescale work that seeks to address cultural issues may increase people's awareness of, and willingness to speak up about, related matters.
- The wider context The general environment in which your organisation is operating has an impact on workers. So, at times of change such as mergers, organisational or operational restructuring, changes in Care Quality Commission (CQC) rating or entering special measures guardians may see increased workloads.

#### Line managing the guardian

Unless the guardian has the skills, resources and support to provide a positive speaking-up experience, workers may lack the confidence to speak up – or, if they do, may not want to repeat the experience. So, as with any other role, the guardian will benefit from the support of a line manager as well as senior people to escalate matters to.

They also need to meet their organisations' wider expectations around line management – for example, supporting guardians to evaluate and address any development needs and to assess their performance appropriately.

Line managing a guardian is similar to line managing any other role. The main differences relate to the risks of breaching confidentiality or impinging on the guardian's independence. The guardian and their line manager need to address and clarify those issues early in their relationship, to make sure expectations are clear.

#### Find out more

Line managers will find the National Guardian Office's <u>universal job</u> <u>description</u> and guardian's <u>education and training guide</u> useful, as well as other <u>guidance</u>.

#### Troubleshooting

The level of speaking up in an organisation, and the support that a guardian will need to provide, will fluctuate over time. Periods of significant change, incidents that identify poor quality, and external factors that might affect the workforce may all indicate that the available level of guardian support should be reassessed.

#### **Case-handling procedures**

It is important to have clear procedures in place around how cases are managed and handled. This helps with transparency and enabling everyone to understand the role they play. Having clarity on roles will help you swiftly escalate serious safety issues. Ideally, develop these procedures in partnership with managers, as they play a key part in looking into the concerns brought to the guardian.

#### Speaking-up data

The guardian is required to provide data to the National Guardian's Office each quarter. This enables learning and gives confidence to workers about the commitment of the organisation to building an open culture. Please support your guardian in this regard.

## Tackling barriers to speaking up

#### Principle 7: Identify and tackle barriers to speaking up.

However strong an organisation's speaking-up culture, there will always be some barriers to speaking up, whether across the entire organisation or in small pockets. Finding and addressing them is an ongoing process.

#### Identify barriers to speaking up

Barriers are likely to shift over time, depending on how safe and confident workers feel at work (their internal, psychological wellbeing) and on external factors, such as changes in others' behaviour, financial security, difficulties at home or colleagues gossiping.

It is vital that the leadership team has a deep understanding of their workforce and empathy for those who are least heard. Freedom To Speak Up (FTSU) guardians play an important role in helping leaders identify the groups of people facing barriers and in helping deliver actions to bring about change.



#### Examples of barriers to speaking up

- Perceptions that nothing will happen as a result
- Fear of being viewed as a troublemaker
- Fear of judgement about raising a matter
- Fear of reprisals from colleagues, peers, managers
- Fear of impact on career
- Fear of jeopardising employment or residency status
- Language and cultural barriers
- Lack of confidence in the process
- Lack of trust in the FTSU guardian
- Lack of confidence the senior team will take the concern seriously
- Lack of positive experience about the benefits of speaking up
- Lack of time or not knowing how to speak up
- No response from the senior team after speaking up before
- Dissatisfaction with the investigation into, or response to, a previous speaking-up matter
- Communications about speaking up being delivered in a narrow or formulaic way

#### Groups that may face barriers

Anyone may feel vulnerable or encounter barriers to speaking up at any time. However, the <u>2020 Guardian Survey</u> highlighted the following people as facing particular barriers to speaking up:

- members of minority ethnic groups
- people identifying as LGBTQ+
- people living with disabilities or long-term health conditions
- people who have spoken up previously
- people without regular access to IT
- people on the lower pay bands
- students
- junior doctors on rotation, part-time workers, night-shift workers and community-based workers
- very senior workers who are concerned about career progression
- people who have been recruited from abroad and are working in England on a visa
- people who trained abroad
- people who had previously lived or worked in a culture in which concerns were not raised.

#### **Tackling barriers**

The best way to identify the barriers and assess how prevalent they are is to talk to people: through one-to-ones, focus groups, discussions with networks, forums, polls, surveys, digital message boards and social media.

Staff networks provide a place for people to come together and share their experiences. They may be somewhere those who are least often heard feel safe and included. So, it is crucial that Guardians build strong connections with all staff networks as part of their work to understand the barriers some people face to speaking up. The very purpose of staff networks is to make a difference, so working with them to co-create solutions would be sensible, and may give proposed changes more traction.

Barriers break down gradually as trust grows – and this happens when people's actions match their words. Most of the work to break down barriers involves ensuring clear and consistent messaging, role-modelling the behaviour you ask of others and following through on your commitments.

#### **Appoint speaking-up champions**

Only FTSU guardians can handle cases, but to promote speaking up and build trust with people who experience barriers to speaking up, many organisations also use a network of champions. This approach has been particularly effective in organisations with a large geographical spread and multiple sites, or where a guardian works across a partnership or networks of organisations.

It is important that the champion role is well understood – by the champions themselves and by the workers they are supporting.

#### Find out more

National Guardian's Office (2021). <u>Guidance on Champion and</u> <u>Ambassador Networks: Guidance for Freedom to Speak Up</u> <u>guardians</u>. London: NGO

#### **Tips:** Building trust



- Demonstrate that when people speak up, leaders and managers listen and follow up.
- Communicate through a variety of traditional, digital and socialmedia channels and enlist the help of community influencers.
- Include speaking up in all local induction programmes not just the corporate one.
- Repeatedly emphasise to groups most likely to face barriers that you value the voice and experience of all your workers.
- Repeatedly send messages to the whole organisation that you, and other senior leaders, will not tolerate people victimising those who speak up.
- Raise awareness of the importance of civility, respect, diversity and inclusion.
- Talk to people about their fears and ask what would help them speak up, making sure you respond compassionately and empathetically and thank them for sharing their experiences.
- Implement a 'just culture' approach across the whole organisation to ensure that the emphasis is on improvement, not blame.
- Understand your own biases.
- Understand the pressures workers face, and their fears particularly in those from under-represeted groups or those that have faced exclusion or discrimination.
- Show you will take time to listen well and take issues around bias and discrimination seriously.

#### **Tackle detriment**

Speaking up is often associated with retaliation or detriment.

- Retaliation is intended harm to the person who has spoken up.
- **Detriment** is the harm experienced by the person who has spoken up, even if this harm was not intended.

Retaliation and detriment can impact on the person's health and well-being and may lead them to leave the team or organisation. Some people who have spoken up say that even though they felt that speaking up led to a positive outcome, they found the process stressful and believe that this stress had a negative impact on their performance.

#### **Examples of detriment**

- Being dismissed, a contract not being renewed or being made redundant
- Receiving a negative performance appraisal or disciplinary action
- Being moved to less-desirable duties or locations, or being demoted or suspended
- Being denied the information or resources to do the job properly
- Being overlooked or denied accesses to promotion or training
- Being criticised for speaking up
- Being refused support to manage the stress associated with speaking up
- Being bullied, excluded or treated negatively
- Being perceived as a troublemaker

If a worker feels they have experienced detriment as a result of speaking up, the matter should be looked into by their manager or someone more independent, or through your formal grievance procedure. You may also consider signposting the worker to NHS England's <u>Speaking Up Support</u>. <u>Scheme</u>. Your organisation's process should be set out in your speaking-up policy.

Ideally, a senior speaking-up lead, such as the non-executive director (NED), should have sight of any grievances that involve allegations of detriment.

You and your senior colleagues need to communicate that detriment will not be tolerated. When it does occur, it is important that you act – and are seen to act.

It is one thing to respond to detriment when it happens. It is another to proactively try and prevent it occurring. So, it is important that guardians share themes and learning from the work they do around allegations of detriment to enable individuals and teams responsible for organisational development to think through how to prevent it.

## **Continually improving speaking-up culture**

Principle 8: Know the strengths and weaknesses of the organisation's speaking-up culture and take action to continually improve.

Building a speaking-up culture requires continuous improvement. Two key documents will help you plan and assess your progress: the improvement strategy and the improvement and delivery plan.

#### Writing your improvement strategy

You will want to develop a Freedom To Speak Up (FTSU) improvement strategy, but it does not matter what you call it as long as it incorporates goals that are well thought out, measurable and have been signed off by the senior team or board.

The strategy should set out clearly how speaking up fits in with the organisation's overall strategy and how it supports the delivery of related strategies. So, it should highlight the benefits of developing your speaking-up culture alongside other work to develop a healthy culture and behaviours, compassionate leadership and an inclusive workplace, and to increase civility and respect. Part 3 of this guide (page 36) shows how working on Freedom to Speak Up has a positive knock-on effect on many other important aspects of your culture and improvement work.

The strategy needs full buy-in from managers because its success depends on their willingness and ability to look into whatever matters are raised through the guardian.

#### Tips: Writing the improvement strategy



- Set out ambitions and aims, based on a diagnosis of any speakingup issues or areas for improvement that the organisation is currently facing. This should draw on learning from the National Guardian's case-review recommendations and best practice from others (for example, peer networks).
- Highlight any groups of people, geographical locations or service areas needing focus.
- Include clear objectives, measures and targets to monitor improvement.
- At the planning stage, think about what the values, behaviours, skills or knowledge you need to underpin your strategy.
- Co-producing the strategy with a diverse range of relevant stakeholders, including managers, will ensure there is a shared vision for speaking up.
- It should be signed off by the senior team or board, with planned periodic updates.
- Make sure the objectives include a focus on developing leadership values, behaviours, skills and knowledge that will help deliver the speaking-up vision.

#### The improvement and delivery plan

An improvement and delivery plan will help you deliver the strategy and attain the goals it sets out.

At first, the plan may focus on delivering your strategy, but over time it may evolve to include further actions in response to ad hoc gap analysis from best practice or recommendations from the National Guardian's <u>guidance or case</u> reviews.

A good plan will contain success measures and information about how you will measure whether you have achieved your improvement goals.

Sharing the updated plan and a progress report with your workers, senior team and board, if you have one, will demonstrate that you value speaking up.

#### **Continuous improvement**

Implementing a speaking-up culture is not a linear process. It takes time, and discovering which activities make the most difference to your organisation involves trial and error. Once you have implemented your improvement action plan (see above), you need to measure its impact to assess whether it is genuinely leading to positive change. The best way to do this is through a quality improvement approach to measuring and assessing for improvement.

A common model used in quality improvement is plan, do, study, act (PDSA) – also known as small cycles of change. This model (shown in Figure 2) shows an ongoing process of implementing, testing and changing, to create incremental improvements rather than a single, radical transformation, with each cycle of change building on previous learning.







#### Find out more

Plenty of resources are available to help you develop your understanding of quality improvement and build skills. NHS England provide several useful resources:

- Improvement Fundamentals is a free course providing an introduction to improvement.
- <u>The Sustainable Impact Framework</u> is a tool that systematically captures the impact of widescale change programmes, tailored to support improvement work in complex systems.
- <u>Making Data Count</u> is a suite of practical guides and tools to help in using data to measure progress over time in system and service improvement. The resource includes simple tools and guidance on run charts and statistical process control charts.
- <u>The Statistical Process Control Tool</u> is free and easy to use. Paste in your data and it will generate a chart and flag anything needing investigation.

#### Indicators of concern

- Low numbers of cases (or none at all) are being raised with guardians.
- A high proportion of the cases raised are anonymous.
- A high proportion of the cases raised include an element of detriment for speaking up.
- The guardian does not have enough time to complete the activities set out in the universal job description, follow the guidance from the National Guardian's Office, attend network events and develop in the role.
- Guardians express frustration at the lack of support or action from their board or senior leaders.
- A guardian has been recruited through a process that was not fair and open.
- The annual staff survey (if your organisation has one) has a low participation rate.
- Your organisation scores poorly in response to Question 18f in the NHS Staff Survey or has a high overall score but certain groups score negatively.
- There is a low reporting rate for serious incidents and never events.
- There are lengthy delays in looking into speaking-up cases.
- Little change or learning is identified from speaking-up cases.
- There is high staff turnover overall, or in specific areas.
- Levels of worker satisfaction indicated by the staff survey, or within specific groups of people, are low overall.

#### Assurance

An important part of a speaking-up culture is having assurance that certain factors are working well. You and your senior colleagues or board need to seek ongoing assurance that the following are taking place:

- workers speak up with confidence and are treated well
- if there is evidence that a worker has been victimised as a result of speaking up, action is taken to address this
- workers who have suffered victimisation as a result of speaking up receive appropriate support and redress
- barriers to speaking up are identified and tackled
- all leaders and managers role-model speaking up and set a positive tone for speaking up
- learning is identified and shared across the organisation
- improvement actions are monitored and evaluated to ensure they lead to improvements.

#### Ways to gather assurance

Seeking assurance requires a proactive approach as the factors above may not be immediately apparent without some investigation, using a number of different approaches to gather information. For example:

- Listen to workers Gather people's experience through walkabouts, conversations with governors, speaking-up cases, guardian user feedback, grievance themes, exit interviews, worker experience stories, polls and surveys, social-media comments, culture and behaviour reviews, staff networks and trade union representatives. What are workers telling you about the speaking-up culture and what needs improving?
- Request a report from your guardian You should receive this at least twice a year.
- Identify and audit the 'problem areas' Go out and actively seek problems, hold listening interventions and identify issues and themes, compare data from different sources to get a bigger picture, and do deep dives to identify what aspects of your speaking-up culture need to improve.
- Assess governance If you have a NED, ask them to assess the effectiveness of your organisation's processes to ensure that the board, senior team and managers get to hear about risks and issues.
- Learn from others Complete a gap analysis against what other organisations are doing, new national guidance, Model Hospital data, National Guardian Office case reviews (summary doc) or CQC thematic reports, to identify what about your speaking-up culture needs improving. Most of the analysis will be completed by your guardian. However, this does not preclude the senior lead for FTSU or the senior team or board forming their own views on areas for improvement.

#### The guardian report

The guardian writes and presents this report. The senior lead may support the guardian in this to ensure their report reflects internal house style, but the ideas, themes or issues they present must not be distorted. The report should not simply consist of a list of data, themes or activities carried out. It has to contain a detailed assessment – the 'so what?'.

#### **Further reading**

National Guardian's Office (year). <u>Recording Cases and Reporting</u> Data: Guidance for Freedom To Speak Up guardians. London: NGO

#### The guardian report should have three parts.

**Part 1** (assessment of cases) should provide assurance that matters being spoken up about are quickly evaluated, escalated and responded to. It should also observe whether change has occurred as a result and what assurance the Guardian has received from the relevant manager that any change will address the issues highlighted and prevent them from arising again.

Part 2 (action taken) focuses on:

- providing assurance that FTSU arrangements are continually evaluated and improvements identified
- illustrating the barriers that exist in your organisation and what the plan is to remove them
- providing information on the level of detriment for speaking up and any issues underlying this
- offering assurance that there are good processes for dealing with this, that the processes are used and there is an action plan for improvement (no matter how good or bad things are)
- assurance that the speaking-up arrangements are continually improving as a result of user feedback, audit and gap analysis against good practice.

In Part 3, the report makes recommendations.

Full detail of the contents is shown on the next page.

#### What the guardian report should include

#### Part 1. Assessment of cases

- The number and types of cases being handled by the guardian(s)
- Analysis of trends, including whether the number of cases is increasing or decreasing, any themes in the matters being raised (such as types of issue, particular groups of workers who speak up or areas of the organisation in which matters are being raised more or less frequently than might be expected), and information on which groups of workers are, or are not, speaking up
- What has been learnt and what improvements have been made as a result of workers speaking up
- Potential patient-safety or worker-experience issues
- How speaking-up matters fit into a wider patient safety or worker experience context, to help build a broader picture of the speakingup culture, barriers to speaking up, potential patient safety risks, and opportunities to learn and improve.

#### Part 2. Action taken to improve speaking-up culture

- Actions taken to increase the guardian's visibility and promote all speaking-up channels
- Actions taken to support any workers who are unaware of the speaking-up process or who find it difficult to speak up
- Assessments of the effectiveness of the speaking-up process and individual case handling, including user feedback, pulse surveys and learning from case reviews
- Potential improvements following reports of workers feeling they have suffered detriment for speaking up
- Actions taken to improve the skills, knowledge and capability of workers to speak up, to support others to do so, and to respond to the issues they raise effectively.

#### Part 3. Recommendations

Recommendations for any required action, with data and other intelligence presented in a way that maintains confidentiality.

# Part 2 Building widespread cultural change

Part 2 sets out other transformational work that you could carry out alongside work on Freedom to Speak Up.

# Contents

## **Carry out wider** cultural improvement

Ideally, improving your speaking-up culture should form part of wider culture improvement work because a healthy speaking-up culture is also one where people feel safe and confident to:

- share their thoughts, experiences and improvement ideas
- participate in health and wellbeing conversations
- call out incivility, discrimination or bullying.

Compassionate and inclusive working environments have a positive impact on staff engagement, too. If people feel comfortable doing all these things, this increases the likelihood they will stay working within the NHS.

For detailed information on how to retain staff read the Improving staff retention: a guide for line managers and employers.

This part of the guide highlights the powerful links between Freedom to Speak Up (FTSU) and other elements of a compassionate and inclusive culture. The individual sections provide an overview of the relevant elements. They are not presented in priority order.



## **Compassionate, inclusive leadership**

Compassionate and inclusive leadership has a profound impact on health and care at every level, from the experience of patients, service users and workers to the effectiveness of teams, organisations and systems. This approach to leadership is a key component of positive worker experience and wellbeing. Research has shown that the experience of staff supported by compassionate leaders is strongly associated with good quality of care for patients and service users.

It is also a powerful facilitator for innovation. Compassionate leaders support the creative and problem-solving process by giving time to every individual, understanding their challenges, empathising with them, and having the motivation to help each person to whom they offer leadership.

It involves being present for all and helping all those they lead. To nurture a culture of compassion, organisations require their leaders to be the 'carriers of culture' – to embody compassion in their leadership.

#### How it links with speaking up

When leaders set a tone of psychological safety in an organisation, people feel more able to speak up about the things that concern them. Creating a compassionate, inclusive culture ensures that every voice really matters and that every concern or issue raised will be treated respectfully. This supports staff wellbeing as well as retention.

Leaders are key to creating an environment that enables psychological safety, through:

- paying attention to those around them and seeing for themselves the challenges that colleagues face
- listening carefully and getting alongside colleagues who feel there are concerns within the organisation
- seeking to truly understand and empathise with those who want to improve care by raising issues
- taking action to determine how, together, colleagues can make the changes they wish to see.

#### Find out more

NHS England's <u>Culture and Leadership programme</u> is a modular which provides organisations the opportunity to understand more about their own culture using evidence based tools to help them develop compassionate, inclusive and collective leadership that will being about culture change.

#### **Further reading**

Catlin K (2021). Better Allies – Everyday actions to create inclusive, engaging workplaces, 2nd edn. Better Allies Press.

NHS England. <u>The Culture and Leadership programme</u> links to a host of resources including guidance, case studies and wider reading, in particular:

- Changing healthcare cultures through collective leadership
- What does compassionate and inclusive leadership mean to us?
- Trauma Informed Compassionate Leadership Helping NHS leaders, teams and individuals to recover from the trauma of COVID-19, a compassionate approach

West MA (2021). Compassionate Leadership: Sustaining wisdom, humanity and presence in health and social care. The Swirling Leaf Press.

Wise T (2020). Fieldnotes on Allyship: Achieving equality together. Our Human Family Inc.

## Just and learning culture

'Just culture' is a concept adopted from systems thinking. It holds that mistakes usually result from organisational issues rather than individual fault. 'Learning culture' is a related approach in which the senior teams or board commit to ongoing learning. In health and care, a just and learning culture helps workers feel confident to speak up when things go wrong, rather than fearing blame if they do so. Supporting workers to be open about their mistakes allows valuable lessons to be learnt so that organisations can prevent the same errors from being repeated.

#### How it links with speaking up

A just and learning culture creates an environment where Freedom To Speak Up can thrive – because speaking up when things go wrong becomes normal, everyday practice. Both approaches focus on learning when things go wrong and improving as a result, rather than finger-pointing or seeking blame (sometimes expressed as 'what was responsible, not who is responsible').

This does not equate to an uncritical, overly tolerant culture where 'anything goes': it means everyone being accountable but also feeling supported by their organisation.

#### Further reading

NHS England. A Just Culture Guide.

Horizons <u>A-practical-guide-to-the-art-of-psychological-safety-in-the-real-world-of-health-and-care-.pdf (horizonsnhs.com)</u>.

#### Find out more

<u>Principles and Practice of Restorative Just Culture</u>. Four-day course. Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust in partnership with Northumbria University.

## Worker voice

Worker voice (also known as staff voice or employee voice) is the means by which people communicate their views at work and influence matters that affect them. A person's level of psychological safety strongly affects how they feel about sharing thoughts with others in the workplace, so this provides a bedrock for voice.

Effective voice contributes to multiple positive outcomes, not only for individuals but also for organisations and systems, as it supports innovation, productivity, increased job satisfaction, employee engagement and wellbeing and, ultimately, staff retention. When workers can speak out about their experience, this enables organisations to create a great work environment. This, in turn, helps organisations provide the best possible care, attract and retain staff, and improve staff health and wellbeing.

Like other areas of cultural improvement, building effective voice within an organisation has to be done through multiple initiatives – designing and developing approaches to communications and line management that nurture trust, which, in turn, enables workers to use their voice. It also involves looking at other factors that impact on worker experience, such as wellbeing, employer brand and communication. To be effective, this work must be championed by leaders.

#### How it links with speaking up

This guide focuses on speaking up as a means of reporting an area of concern. However, speaking up also encompasses completing the national NHS Staff Survey, the new quarterly pulse survey, sharing thoughts with a senior leader on a board walkabout or using social media to share an opinion. All of these are ways for workers to share their voice.

#### Find out more

NHS England. We each have a voice that counts. Includes links to multiple resources including webinars, books, case studies, articles and training.

In April 22 the Staff Engagement Team in NHS England published a Listening Strategy. The document is designed to consolidate existing information about the national tools available to listen to staff and how each provides a complementary view of worker behaviour and sentiment to support improving employee experience and in tandem – patient experience. It also proposes several ways that NHS Trusts could expand on their approach to listening. The document will be available via Employee Experience and Engagement - FutureNHS Collaboration Platform.

For NHS organisations three listening tools are available: the <u>NHS</u> <u>Staff Survey</u>, the <u>National Quarterly Pulse Survey</u> and <u>the monthly</u> <u>Pulse Survey</u>, as well as the accompanying free <u>People Pulse</u> <u>Diagnostic Tool</u>.

A short animation describing how the Staff Survey links to the People Promise <u>https://youtu.be/UT2Qwj8nqvc</u>

## **Equality, diversity and inclusion**

Equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) has been described as the golden thread that runs through everything that happens in health and care. It informs behaviour, planning, policy, practice, process, operations and strategy and – above all – care. Applying the EDI lens to our work means consciously and actively advancing equality and producing evidence for continuous improvement, to keep workers, patients and service users physically and psychologically safe. This is not just our duty as care providers: it is a moral imperative.

Inclusion through speaking up can further be reinforced by enabling an 'effective ally' workforce. This involves workers effectively intervening, reporting incidents and speaking up on behalf of others. An effective ally can help de-escalate or even stop wrongdoing and put a halt to bad behaviours.

This is in contrast to a bystander culture within workplaces where, despite witnessing wrongdoing to others, people do not speak up. This can have detrimental effects on workplace experience and, ultimately, patient care.

#### How it links with speaking up

The most vulnerable workers need to feel that it is safe to speak up. By collecting and analysing data to identify any differences in the workplace experiences of different groups, colleagues with a focus on EDI and speaking up can work together to make sure everyone has equal access to speaking up and no one feels that speaking up is not for 'someone like them'.

As a relational exercise, speaking up is effective only if 'listening up' occurs too. This can happen only in psychologically safe spaces where equality and inclusion are the norm and where people across organisations (including line managers and guardians) are familiar with EDI principles. So, it is important that organisations support the growth of staff networks and encourage people's engagement with them. Guardians should reach out to the workforce via the staff networks.

#### **Further reading**

British Medical Association (2018). <u>Bullying and harassment: how to</u> address it and create a supportive and inclusive culture

Kline R (2019). Leadership in the NHS. BMJ Leader 3(4).

Kline K, Somra G (2021). <u>Difference matters: the impact of ethnicity</u> on speaking up. National Guardian's Office.

NHS England. NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard.

West E, Nayar S, Taskila T (2017). The progress and outcomes of Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) Nurses and Midwives through the Nursing and Midwifery Council's Fitness to Practise Process. London: University of Greenwich/NMC.

NHS England - Equality, Diversity and Inclusion resources on FutureNHS

## **Civility and respect**

Civility and respect sit behind a positive workplace culture – they are the way people should treat each other. 'Civility' describes a behaviour: treating someone politely or with courtesy. 'Respect' involves valuing other people's experience and feelings. The two are closely linked, as people show their respect for someone by acting with civility.

In health and care, civility and respect involve supporting, valuing and respecting workers for what they do and showing kindness, compassion and professionalism towards workers, patients and service users.

This means addressing behaviours such as unconscious bias, micro-aggressions and micro-behaviours, gossiping, undermining or excluding individuals, along with more obviously visible examples of bullying or harassment, such as rude or unkind behaviour, using a harsh tone of voice, raising one's voice, rolling one's eyes, making sharp comments or being overtly critical.

It also means ensuring that people are civil in their digital communication, avoiding making sharp, harsh or insulting comments on email or social media.

Working in an environment where these behaviours take place can have a debilitating impact on people's health and wellbeing, as well as their performance. Supporting our workers to demonstrate civility and respect, and resolving conflict effectively and informally, is likely to help reduce sickness absence, turnover, presenteeism and low morale, as well as addressing poor communication skills that may lead to allegations of bullying and harassment.

#### How it links with speaking up

People need to feel confident that if they call out poor behaviour, they will not experience detriment or retaliation (see page 30). Creating and promoting psychologically safe spaces by promoting positive working relationships helps make staff feel secure, supported and confident to speak up, providing a healthier outlook for all. A speaking-up culture – whether speaking to line managers or guardians – plays a crucial role in developing a culture of civility and respect.

#### Find out more

<u>The Civility and Respect Toolkit and Framework</u> offers a practical, evidence-based overview on thinking and action, to understand what employees are experiencing and how this is contributing to workplace stressors and, ultimately, the cultural feel of the organisation. (Section 6 of the toolkit provides links to further resources.)

<u>civilitysaveslives.com</u> is the website of a group of UK health professionals who aim to raise awareness of the power of civility in medicine.

#### **Further reading**

NHS Employers (2019). <u>Professionalism and Cultural Transformation</u> <u>Toolkit</u>. NHS Employers.

Porath C (2016). <u>Mastering Civilty: A manifesto for the workplace</u>. New York: Grand Central Publishing

Turner C. <u>When rudeness turns deadly</u>. TED talk about incivility by UK emergency medicine consultant.

## Health and wellbeing

For health and care organisations to provide high quality patient care, and to retain a happy and healthy workforce, colleagues need to feel supported at work and able to talk about wellbeing when they need to. Leaders, teams and employers should be offering their workforce access to support that helps them stay well at work. Support should always be available, and at a range of levels – including across teams, organisations, and sectors.

Before COVID-19, the NHS had started to put increasing emphasis on the health and wellbeing of its workers. The NHS People Plan and People Promise make key commitments to create and sustain cultures of wellbeing across the NHS and build on learning gained during the pandemic. This includes leaders thinking about wellbeing in a holistic manner and the many ways someone's wellbeing can be affected, as well as considering the impact of every experience, from a workplace induction to having access to breaks and safe spaces or to the relationship with their line manager.

Organisations are encouraged to promote and support the health and wellbeing of their workforce, not take the traditional approach of acting only when someone is unwell. This includes actively supporting colleagues to access occupational health and wellbeing when needed, and proactively checking in with colleagues to ask how they are. Creating an environment where people are happy and healthy, and supported to achieve their individual ambitions while delivering the highest levels of care, will help retain them in the NHS.

#### How it links with speaking up

For workers to speak up, they need to feel safe, respected and included, and assured that they will not be discriminated against. But they also need to feel they will be supported, looked after and cared for.

At the same time, developing a culture where workers feel safe to speak up and that, if they do, action will be taken, will help them feel more able to be open and honest during conversations about their health and wellbeing.

#### Find out more

The <u>NHS health and wellbeing framework and diagnostic tool</u> sets out the standards organisations need to meet for their workers to feel well, healthy and happy at work.

Three initiatives are being rolled out in the NHS:

- Wellbeing guardians are new roles, designed to provide oversight on speaking up at board level.
- Health and wellbeing champions are being appointed at all levels, to promote, identify and signpost ways to support wellbeing to colleagues.
- Health and wellbeing conversations are one-to-one meetings focus on the health and wellbeing every worker, revised at least annually. These conversations are designed to support the above two roles. Organisations can use this guidance on how to approach a conversation about wellbeing.

Find out more about health and wellbeing champions.

NHS England Wellington House 133-155 Waterloo Road South Bank London SE1 8UG

This publication can be made available in a number of other formats on request.

© NHS England 2022

Publication approval reference: PAR1524\_ii